

# HERBERT T. HOOVER

401 Sunset Drive  
Beresford, SD 57004  
(605) 763-5323

## *Curriculum Vitae 2006*

Born in Wabasha County, Minnesota, on March 9, 1930, and a graduate of high school at Plainview, I served as a Hospital Corpsman with the First Marine Division in Korea and returned to study for several years at the University of Minnesota before my enrollment in the frontier history programs of two southwestern universities to specialize in intercultural relations.

### DEGREES

1960	<b>B.A. History</b> , New Mexico State University
1961	<b>M.A. History</b> , New Mexico State University
1966	<b>Ph.D. History</b> , University of Oklahoma

### SPECIALTIES

- History of American Indian-white relations
- History of the Anglo-American Frontier
- American Indian Ethnohistory;
- Oral History
- South Dakota History
- Northern Great Plains History

### PROFESSIONAL APPOINTMENTS

1965-1966	<b>Assistant Professor of History</b> , East Texas State University
1967-1970	<b>Assistant Professor of History</b> , University of South Dakota
1970-1973	<b>Associate Professor of History</b> , University of South Dakota
1974-present	<b>Professor of History</b> , University of South Dakota
1977-present	<b>Director/Coodinator</b> , South Dakota Oral History Center
1981-1983	<b>Acting Director</b> , The Newberry Library Center for the History of the American Indian
1985-1991	<b>Director</b> , Indian Studies Program, University of South Dakota

### PROFESSIONAL RESEARCH AWARDS

1969-1970, 1975-1976	<b>General Faculty Research awards</b> , University of South Dakota
Summer 1977	<b>Fellowship</b> , The Newberry Library
9/1/78-8/31/81	<b>General Research Award</b> , National Endowment for the Humanities Research Division, leave from academic responsibilities
1985-1989	<b>Grant from South Dakota Committee on the Humanities</b> , for state centennial publication on leaders of the past

## PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATION MEMBERSHIPS

- Organization of American Historians
- Western History Association
- Phi Alpha Theta
- South Dakota State Historical Society
- Bon Homme County (SD) Historical Society
- Wabasha County (MN) Historical Society

## PROFESSIONAL ORGANIZATION OFFICES

1973-1985	Western History Association Membership Committee
1974-1977	Organization of American Historians Membership Committee
1974	Western History Association Local Arrangements Committee (Co-chair)
1976-1978	Western History Association Nominating Committee (Chair, 1977-1978)
1977-1979	Organization of American Historians Nominating Board
1984	Western History Association Local Arrangements Committee, Hiawatha Valley Tour
1984	Western History Association Program Committee
1984-1985	Phi Alpha Theta International Councillor <ul style="list-style-type: none"> <li>•International Advisory Board, 1985-1989</li> <li>•Book Awards Committee, 1990-1994</li> </ul>
1984-1986	<i>Western Historical Quarterly</i> Board of Editors
1970-present	<i>South Dakota History</i> Board of Editors
1988-1991	Organization of American Historians Minority Affairs Committee
1994-1997	Western History Association Local Arrangements Committee for Annual Conference in St. Paul 1997

## PROFESSIONAL AND PUBLIC SERVICE APPOINTMENTS

1972-1975	South Dakota Council of Humanists (NEH)
1975-1980	South Dakota Committee on the Humanities (NEH)
1975-	Project Reviewer, National Endowment for the Humanities Education, Public Programs, and Research divisions
1977-1978	Advisory Panel, National Endowment for the Humanities, Research Division
1978-1979	South Dakota Historical Publications and Records Commission
1985-1989	South Dakota Historical Society Board of Trustees (Vice-president; Publications Committee Chair)
1984-present	Augustana College, Center for Western Studies, National Council
1984-1992	Fairview Township, Clay County, SD, Board of Supervisors
1991-1996	Rhodes Scholar South Dakota State Selection Committee (Chair, 1996)

## AUTHOR OR EDITOR FOR PUBLICATIONS IN BOOK FORM

- Education and the Sioux*. Vermillion: University of South Dakota, 1975.
- Perspectives on South Dakota*. Vermillion: University of South Dakota, 1977.
- Regionalism and Culture*. Vermillion: University of South Dakota, 1977.
- ...*South Dakota Centennial: A Bibliography*. Vermillion: University of South Dakota, 1984.
- South Dakota Leaders*. Vermillion: University of South Dakota Press, 1988. Printed and distributed by University Publishing Associates, Lanham, MD.
- From Idea to Institution: Higher Education in South Dakota*. Vermillion: University of South Dakota Press, 1989.

## BOOKS

- To Be An Indian*. New York: Holt, Rinehart and Winston, 1971. Reprint. St. Paul: Minnesota Historical Society, Borealis Books, 1995. Co-author
- The Practice of Oral History*. New York: Microfilming Corporation of America, 1975. Co-author
- The Chitimacha People*. Phoenix: Indian Tribal Series, 1975.
- The Sioux: A Critical Bibliography*. Newberry Library Series; Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1979.
- Bibliography of the Sioux*. Metuchen, NJ: Scarecrow Press, Inc., 1980. Co-author
- The Yankton Sioux*. Indians of North America Series; New York: Chelsea House, Publishers, 1988.
- Wildlife on the Cheyenne River and Lower Brule Reservations*. Vermillion: University of South Dakota Press, 1992.
- Yanktonai Sioux Images: The Watercolors of John Saul*. Sioux Falls: Center for Western Studies, 1993. Co-author
- South Dakota History: An Annotated Bibliography*. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press, 1993. Co-author
- The Sioux and Other Native American Cultures of the Dakotas: An Annotated Bibliography*. Westport, CT: Greenwood Press, 1993. Co-author
- Bon Homme County History*. Freeman: Pine Hill Press, 1994. Co-author
- United States History From Colonial Times to the Civil War*. Edina, MN: Harcourt Brace/Burgess International Custom Publication/Prentice Hall, 1995-. With Carol Goss Hoover and Elizabeth Simmons.
- United States History From the Civil War*. Edina, MN: Houghton Mifflin/Burgess International Custom Publication/Prentice Hall, 1995-. With Carol Goss Hoover and Elizabeth Simmons.
- Sioux Country: A History of Indian-white Relations*. Sioux Falls: Augustana College Center for Western Studies, 2000. With Carol Goss Hoover.
- A New South Dakota History*. Sioux Falls: Augustana College Center for Western Studies, 2005. With authors et. al.

## ARTICLES

- "Ashbel Smith on Currency and Finance in the Republic of Texas," *Southwestern Historical Quarterly*, LXXI (January 1968), 419-424.
- "Interview: Noah White," *South Dakota Review*, VIII (Autumn 1970), 171-177.
- "John Milton Leeper: Pioneer Farmer," *Nebraska History*, LII (Spring 1971), 31-44.
- "South Dakota," *Collier's Year Book* (annual), 1968-1988.
- "South Dakota," *The Americana Annual*, 1970-1995.
- "Yankton Sioux Tribal Claims Against the United States, 1917-1975," *The Western Historical Quarterly*, VII, no. 2 (1976), 125-142.
- "The Use of Oral History in the Classroom," *Network News Exchange*, III, no. 2 (1977).
- "Rosebud to Dallas," to accompany educational movie with same title, and historical consult for film production.
- "Arikara, Sioux, and Government Farmers: Three American Indian Agricultural Legacies," *South Dakota History*, XIII (Spring/Summer 1983), 22-48.
- "Farmers Fight Back: A Survey of Rural Political Organizations, 1873-

- 1983," *South Dakota History*, XIII (Spring/Summer 1983), 122-157.
- "Sitting Bull: The Image of a 'Great Man'," *The Last Years of Sitting Bull* (Bismarck: State Historical Society of North Dakota, 1984), 1-8.
- "Ice Gorging and Flooding in the History of the Missouri River Basin," *South Dakota History*, XVII (Winter 1987), 181-201.
- "The Sioux Agreement of 1889 and Its Aftermath," *South Dakota History*, XIX (Spring 1989), 56-94. Won Herbert S. Schell Award from the South Dakota State Historical Association, 1990.
- "Whiskey Trade in the History of Sioux Country Since 1802," *Platte Valley Review*, XIX, no. 1 (Winter 1991), 5-24.
- "Congressional Intent Regarding Jurisdiction on Ceded Indian Land During the Allotment Era: History." Peer reviewed at the annual conference of the Western History Association in Billings, by presentation before peers, for use in federal litigation.
- "The Use of Sources for Research in the History of Indian-white Relations," American Association of State and Local History, Annual Conference Publication, 1992.
- "Works in Progress Regarding the History of Indian-white Relations in Sioux Country," *Conference Proceeding on Dakota History*. Center for Western Studies, Augustana College, Sioux Falls, SD, June 1995.

## BOOK CHAPTERS

- "Oral History in the United States." In *The Past Before Us*, edited by Michael Kammen, 391-407. Ithaca: Cornell University Press, 1980.
- "South Dakota." In *Encyclopedia Americana*, 1980 Edition.
- "Yankton Sioux Experience in the 'Great Indian Depression,' 1900-1930." In *The American West*, edited by Ron Lora, 53-71. Toledo: University of Toledo Press, 1980.
- "Sitting Bull." In *American Indian Leaders*, edited by R. David Edmunds, 152-174. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1980.
- "South Dakota." In *Worldmark Encyclopedia: United States*. New York: Harper and Row Publishers, 1981.
- "The American Indian: From Prehistory to the Civil War." In *Historians and the American West*, edited by Michael Malone, 15-38. Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1983.
- "The Missouri." In *Rolling Rivers*, edited by Richard A. Bartlett, 211-216. New York: McGraw-Hill, 1984.
- "Some Recommended Sources," "Nineteenth Century Indian-white Images in Sioux Country." In *...South Dakota Centennial: A Bibliography*, edited by Herbert T. Hoover, 3-16, 114-125. Vermillion: University of South Dakota, 1984.
- "Red Cloud," "Sitting Bull." In *Dictionary of American Military Biography*, edited Roger J. Spiller. New York: Greenwood Press, 1985.
- "The History of South Dakota." In *A Selected Annotated Bibliography: South Dakota*, edited by Sue Laubersheimer, 8-155. Brookings: South Dakota Library Association, 1985.
- "Indians at Work," "Little Bronzed Angel," "Institute of Indian Studies, University of South Dakota Bulletin," "Children of the Prairie." In *American Indian Periodicals Since 1924*, edited by Daniel R. Littlefield, Jr. New York: Greenwood Press, 1985.
- "Charles Eastman," "James McLaughlin," "Richard H. Pratt." In *Biographical Dictionary of Social Welfare*, edited by William I. Trattner.

- New York: Greenwood Press, 1985.
- "South Dakota." In *Comparative Histories of the Middle American States*, edited by James Madison, 186-205. Bloomington: Indiana University Press, 1988.
- "Pierre Chouteau, Jr., and Company." In *South Dakota Leaders*, edited by Herbert T. Hoover and Larry Zimmerman, 1-14. Vermillion: University of South Dakota Press, 1988.
- "The Voice of Experience," "Collateral Institutions." In *From Idea to Institution: Higher Education in South Dakota*, edited by Herbert T. Hoover et al. Vermillion: University of South Dakota Press, 1989.
- "South Dakota." In *Encyclopedia Britannica*, 1990 Edition.
- "Dakota" (Sioux tribes), "Yankton and Yanktonai" (Sioux tribes), "Sioux Federation" with map. In *Native America In The Twentieth Century*, edited by Mary Davis. New York: Garland Publishing Company, 1994.
- "South Dakota Governance Since World War II." In *Recent Western Politics*, edited by Richard Lowitt. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1995. Co-authored with Cheyenne River Sioux Tribe Attorney General Stephen Emery.
- "South Dakota," "Native American Peoples of the Great Plains," "The Sioux Wars," "John Blair Smith Todd," "American Horse (Elder)," "American Horse (Younger)," "Four Horns," "Black Moon," "Gall," "John Grass," "Rain In The Face (Chasing Enemy)," "Big Foot (Sitanka)," "Struck By The Ree," "Hollow Horn Bear," "Little Raven," "Minimic," "Grey Beard." In *Encyclopedia of the American West*, 4 vols. New York: The Macmillan Company, 1996.
- "Vine Deloria, Jr., In American Historiography." In *Vine Deloria, Jr.*, edited by Larry Zimmerman and Tom Biolsi. Phoenix: University of Arizona Press, 1997.
- "South Dakota." In *Dictionary Of American History*, 1996 Supplement.
- "South Dakota History," In *Encarta Encyclopedia* on CD-ROM, Microsoft Corporation, 1996.
- "Charles Eastman," "Vine Deloria, Jr.," "Oglala Sioux Civil Rights Organization (OSCRO)." In *Civil Rights Encyclopedia*, 2 vols. New York: The Macmillan Company, 2000.
- "South Dakota." In *Encyclopedia of the United States in the Nineteenth Century*, New York: Charles Scribner's Sons, 2002.
- "South Dakota." In *Encyclopedia Britannica*, Year 2000 CD-ROM edition.
- "Mary ('Grandma') White Tallow." In *Encyclopedia of Catholic Women in the United States*. Notre Dame, IN: Notre Dame University (at press). With Carol Goss Hoover.
- "South Dakota." In *Dictionary of American History*, 3<sup>rd</sup> Edition. New York: Charles Scribner's Sons Reference Works, 2002.
- "The Sioux Federation" and "The Santee Sioux." In *Grolier Multimedia Encyclopedia*. Bethel, CT: Grolier, 2002.
- "The Wounded Knee Massacre," "The Black Hills Gold Rush," "Arthur Calvin Mellette." In *Historical Dictionary of the Gilded Age*. New York: The Macmillan Company, 2003.
- "Nicholas Black Elk" (with Carol Goss Hoover), "Karl E. Mundt," "Francis Higbee Case," "Benjamin 'Lone Feather' Reifel." In *Historical Dictionary of the 1940s*. New York: M. E. Sharpe, Inc., (at press).
- "South Dakota." In *Encyclopedia of the Midwest*. Bloomington: Indiana University Press (at press).

“Native American Inhabitants,” “Missouri Valley Culture,” “Territorial Politics and Politicians and Territorial Native Americans and their Circumstances,” “Health Care,” “Modern Tribes in South Dakota Society.” In *A New South Dakota History*. Sioux Falls: Augustana College Center for Western Studies, 2005.

## CONSULTATION FOR PUBLICATION

A RESPONSIBILITY OF A REGIONAL SPECIALIST IS THE REVIEW OF MANUSCRIPTS PREPARED BY OTHER SCHOLARS. EXAMPLES THAT LED TO TITLE-PAGE OR OTHER RECOGNITION ARE:

Warren E. Schultz. *The Last Contrary: The Story of Wesley Whiteman (Black Bear)*. Sioux Falls: The Center for Western Studies, Augustana College, 1989. Introduction by Herbert T. Hoover.

Mary Holmes. *Thunder Foot*. Hustin: Raintree-Steck Vaughn Library, 1992.

Dennis and Judith Fradin. *South Dakota*. From Sea to Shining Sea Series. Chicago: Childrens Press, 1995. Consultant for history.

Ed Hogan. *South Dakota Geography*. Sioux Falls: Center for Western Studies, 1995.

Harold Schuler. *History of Fort Sisseton*. Sioux Falls: Center for Western Studies, 1996.

June Namias. *Six Weeks in the Sioux Tepees: Sarah F. Wakefield*. Norman: University of Oklahoma Press, 1996.

Joe Carter. *The Beecher Incident*. Claremont, CA: Harbour Books, 1996.

Mary Ann Wells, *Searching for Red Eagle*. Jackson: University of Mississippi Press, 1998.

Betti Carol VanEpps-Taylor. *Oscar Micheaux*. Rapid City: Dakota West Books, 1999.

## OTHER PUBLICATIONS

More than 200 book reviews in learned journals, newspaper articles, and brief, extraneous pieces comprise other professional publications.

## ORAL HISTORY

Performance as interviewer for more than 750 taped interviews plus work as Director and Coordinator for the American Indian Research Project and the South Dakota Oral History Project represent service in the Oral History Center on the campus of the University of South Dakota since 1968. Many of these interviews are available on microfiche through the Microfilming Corporation of America, and nearly 50 by Herbert T. Hoover are individually catalogued by the Library of Congress.

## EXPERT WITNESS FOR HISTORY AT FEDERAL COURT

This service entails the publication of essays for use as exhibits, the preparation of depositions, and verbal testimonies regarding historical relationships between American Indian tribes and federal, state, and local agencies of government. Almost continuously since 1982, I have served as an expert witness--sometimes for tribal and sometimes for non-Indian governments. The charge is to express historical relationships without an adversarial disposition.

## PRESENTATIONS OF FORMAL PAPERS

The last of 44 formal papers through the year 1993 was "Research in Historic Sioux Country: The Art of Regional Scholarship," The Forty-first Annual Harrington Lecture, University of South Dakota, May 1993.

## FILM PRODUCTIONS

Involvements with film productions have included consultation, script preparation, and appearance before camera as historian. Included in films have been "Health Care Crisis On Rosebud," "Rosebud To Dallas," "Oahe: A Question of Values," "Sites And Sounds Of Sioux Religion," and the recent companion to *The Yankton Sioux* with the same name by the film company InVision of Philadelphia.

## PERSONAL PHOTOGRAPH COLLECTION: USED IN PUBLICATIONS

*The Yankton Sioux* (listed above) includes more than 50 photographs  
*The Buffalo Hunters*, Time-Life Books (1993)  
*Cycles of Life*, Time-Life Books (1994)  
*Bon Homme County History* (listed above)  
*Wildlife on the Cheyenne River and Lower Brule Reservations* (listed above)  
*United States History From Colonial Times to the Civil War* (listed above)  
*United States History From the Civil War to the Present* (listed above)  
*Invisible America: Unearthing Our Hidden History*, Henry Holt, Inc. (1995)  
*Perspectives. . . Native Americans*, Curriculum Associates, Inc. (1996)  
*Glencoe Literature Grade 10 SE*, Glencoe/McGraw-Hill Company (1999)  
*A New South Dakota History* (2005)

## HONORIFIC AWARDS

"OUTSTANDING EDUCATOR OF AMERICA AWARD," WASHINGTON, DC, 1975.  
*Who's Who In The Midwest*, 1984.  
 "Western America Award," 1984.  
 1990 South Dakota Governor's Award for History.  
*Who's Who In Science and Engineering*, 1996.  
*Who's Who Among America's Teachers*, 1998-.  
 "Professor of the Year," 2003, University of South Dakota Student Association.  
*Who's Who In America*, 2006  
*Montclair Who's Who In Collegiate Faculty*, 2006